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 Comes now the Appellant, Bruce J. Abramski, Jr., by counsel, pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Appellate procedure 4(b), and 18 U.S.C. Section 3242, and 

submits to the following in support of his appeal to this Honorable Court: 

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 
 

The District Court had subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 

18 U.S.C. Section 3231.  The basis for appellate jurisdiction is 18 U.S.C. Section 

3742, where in the Circuit Courts have jurisdiction of appeals from final decisions 

of the District Courts.  

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE 
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF 
MATERIALITY? 
 

II. DO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE CONTSTITUTE A “STRAW 
PURCHASE” INTENDED TO BE PUNISHED AS A VIOLATION 
OF 18 U.S.C. §922(a)(6) or 18 U.S.C. §924 (a)(1)(A)? 

 
III. WAS THE AFFIDAVIT FOR THE SEARCH WARRANT OF THE 

IRON RIDGE ROAD PROPERTY, WHERE THE RECEIPT FOR 
THE TRANSFER OF THE GLOCK FIREARM WAS FOUND AND 
SEIZED, INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH PROBABLE CAUSE 
AS A MATTER OF LAW? 

 
IV. WAS THE EXECUTION OF THE SEARCH WARRANT FOR 

THE IRON RIDGE ROAD PROPERTY IN VIOLATION OF THE 
MAGISTRATE’S DIRECTIVES IN THE WARRANT, 
RESULTING IN THE ILLEGAL SEIZURE OF THE RECEIPT 
FOR THE TRANSFER OF THE GLOCK FIREARM? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Mr. Abramski was arrested July 1, 2010, on state charges stemming from a 

bank robbery that had occurred on November 12, 2009 (J.A. 20).  After being held 

for nearly three months in the local jail, those charges were Nolle Prossed by the 

State prosecutor on October 15, 2010.  The Federal Government has never charged 

Mr. Abramski with these offenses. (J.A. 128, 137, 139, 147, 204) 

 However, on July 19, 2010, a hand written receipt dated November 21, 

2009, from Mr. Abramski’s uncle, Angel Alvarez, documenting the transfer of a 

Glock 9mm pistol from Abramski to Alvarez, was seized during the execution of a 

search warrant at Abramski’s residence. (J.A. Gillis, 295-297, 247-249)  The 

Government pursued the instant charges based on the investigation of this receipt.  

 Bruce Abramski, Jr. turned himself in to be arrested November 30, 2010, on 

a two count indictment alleging violations of 18 U.S.C. §922(a)(6) and 

§924(a)(1)(A). (J.A. 175)  After a detention hearing on December 14, 2010, he was 

released on bond pending trial. (J.A. 206, 218) 

 On March 14, 2012, a hearing was held in which the District Court denied 

the appellant’s Motion to Suppress and Motion to Dismiss.  The Court also ruled 

on four (4) Motions in Limine filed by the government related to evidentiary 

questions about how certain evidence of the bank robbery may be relevant to 

currEnt charges.  (J.A. 247-312) 

Appeal: 11-4992      Doc: 44            Filed: 02/14/2012      Pg: 6 of 37



3 
 

 On March 28, 2012, the District Court heard the appellant’s Motion for 

Exculpatory Evidence related to the content of the Town Police Supply video of 

the firearm purchase on November 17, 2009. 

 The Court granted a joint Motion for Continuance to allow the government 

time to determine answers to why only a “partial” video was produced instead of 

the entire transaction. 

 The Court also heard argument on evidentiary matters related to the 

appellant’s termination from the police department, and evidence from a forensic 

accountant.  (J.A. 313-338) 

 On April 22, 2011, the appellant’s Second Motion to Dismiss, based upon 

administrative deficiencies, was denied by the District Court.  (Abramski does not 

raise this issue on appeal.)  However, the Trial Court endorses the Congressional 

mandate against straw purchases.  (J.A. 369-371) 

 On June 27, 2011, after evidence and argument were presented, the District 

Court denied the appellants second Motion to Suppress and Dismiss the Pending 

Indictments, and his Motion to Continue the trial; compel additional discovery and 

to conduct a hearing to determine the corruption of the search warrant affidavit. 

(J.A. 387-413) and (J.A. 416-513) 

 Lastly, the trial court rejected the defendant’s final attempt to frame the issue 

for the jury, when the court ruled it would refuse an instruction which would have 
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allowed the jury to consider the defendant’s good faith actions, not realizing the 

criminality of his purchase and subsequent transfer of the Glock 9mm to his uncle 

Angel Alvarez, in Pennsylvania.  

 As a result, on the morning of trial, the defendant was offered and agreed to 

accept a “conditional plea” of guilty pursuant to an agreement with the 

Government.  He thereafter entered his pleas of guilty on June 29, 2011 and was 

sentenced on October 3, 2011. (J.A. 519-569) and (J.A. 581-595) 

 Pursuant to agreement, the defendant appealed this judgment order for which 

we now address this Court. (J.A. 570-579) 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 On November 17, 2009, Bruce Abramski, Jr. went to the Town Police 

Supply store in Collinsville, Virginia and purchased a Glock 19 9mm pistol.   Over 

the course of several months prior to this purchase, Mr. Abramski and his uncle, 

Angel Alvarez, who lived in Pennsylvania, had discussed the benefits of owning a 

Glock pistol, versus owning other models.  Alvarez agreed to have Abramski 

purchase a Glock for him in Virginia, after Abramski indicated that he could 

purchase the pistol at a price cheaper than what Alvarez could purchase one for in 

Pennsylvania.  (J.A. 548-559) 

 In anticipation of receiving the firearm from Mr. Abramski, Alvarez 

consulted three separate Federal Firearms licensed dealers, and explained the 
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anticipated fact scenario to determine what Abramski and Alvarez had to do in 

order to legally transfer the firearm.  Alvarez was told simply to have Abramski 

come to a Federal Firearms Licensed dealer in Pennsylvania, after the Virginia 

purchase, complete the transfer papers, and provided Alvarez was not determined 

to be a “prohibited” person through the background check, the dealer would be 

able to complete the transfer. Alvarez told Abramski about these conversations 

before Abramski went to purchase the Glock firearm at the Town Police Supply 

store. (J.A. 555, 556, 558) 

 Although Alvarez did send a check to Abramski for the approximate 

purchase price of the Glock, the check was not deposited until after Abramski had 

already made the purchase.  (J.A. 301, 549, 554) 

 On November 21, 2009, Abramski had driven to Pennsylvania, and he met 

Alvarez at a Federal Firearms Licensed dealer in Easton, Pennsylvania.  A 

background check was run on Alvarez that came back clear; the transfer papers 

were completed, with Abramski being the “transferor” and Alvarez being the 

“transferee”; a transfer fee was paid and the Glock was taken home by Alvarez.  

The government has stipulated that in all respects, this transfer of the Glock from 

Abramski, to Alvarez was completely legal. (J.A. 103, 107, 110, 111) 

 At the time of the purchase of the firearm in Virginia, Abramski completed a 

standard ATF form 4473 and he did check the box for question 11(a) indicating 
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that he was the “actual buyer” of the firearm.  Abramski thought that he was the 

actual buyer since he knew that in order to transfer the firearm in Pennsylvania the 

firearm had to pass through the FFL dealer before the transfer could be made to 

Alvarez .  This meant that he would be representing to the dealer that he was the 

owner of the firearm, and authorized to be a “transferor” in order to accomplish 

this transfer.  It never occurred to Abramski that these facts constituted a “straw 

purchase” in violation of 18 U.S.C. 922(a) (6).  (J.A. 548-558) 

 Unbeknownst to Abramski during the time from November, 2009, until 

June, 2010, he was the subject of a bank robbery investigation by the FBI and local 

authorities.  This bank robbery had occurred on November 12, 2009.  As a part of 

that investigation, the FBI case agent, Gillis, had been to the Town Police Supply 

store in January 2010 and obtained what later was determined to be a “partial” 

copy of the video of Abramski at the store on the day of the purchase of the Glock 

firearm in question.  (J.A. 314, 347-352) 

 In mid June, 2010, Abramski received some indication that he was a suspect 

in the November 2009 bank robbery, and consulted counsel in order to address the 

matter and turn himself in to authorities should a warrant be issued.  (J.A. 173, 

174) 

  Dustin Moricle, was an officer with the Roanoke City Police Department.   

Moricle was friends with Abramski and had known him from the time they had 
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gone through the police academy together and then worked on the Roanoke City 

police department with him until Abramski was terminated on December 21, 2007.  

Early in the week of June 22, 2010, Moricle saw some photos of the masked bank 

robber on YouTube and said he determined that the robber was Abramski.  On or 

about June 24, 2010, Moricle contacted the FBI by telephone, and set up an 

appointment the next week, to speak to them about what he had seen. (J.A. 16-86, 

465-495)  

On June 25, 2010, Moricle had a conversation at Abramski’s request, at 

Abramski’s place of employment in which Abramski wanted to share some of his 

frustrations related to recent events of separation from his wife, foreclosure of his 

marital home, and general issues with regard to his departure from the Roanoke 

City Police Department.  (J.A. 25-31) 

 The details of this conversation with Abramski were related to the FBI when 

Moricle met with them on June 29, 2010.  The meeting lasted about 3 hours to “get 

the details” right. (J.A. 124, 126)  Moricle related his opinion of the identity of the 

robber from the photos and went on to relate the substance of statements attributed 

to Abramski that are set out more specifically in two affidavits for search warrants 

prepared by Agent Gillis and Agent Boodee.1 (J.A. 223-240, 381-401) 

                                                 
1 The actual statements and their intended meaning were disputed by Abramski’s 
parents who met with Moricle the day after Abramski had been arrested.   The 
issue of exactly what Moricle said to the parents or to the FBI was the subject of 
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  The first search warrant was requested on July 1, 2010 for 2260 Highland 

Farm Road, the home of Abramski’s parents where Abramski had just moved to 

sometime during the week of June 22, 2010.  The affidavit appears to be devoid of 

any fact that would indicate a reasonable probability that evidence of the 

November 12, 2009 bank robbery would be found at Abramski’s parent’s house.  

(J.A. 223-240)  

 The second search warrant was requested on July 19, 2010 for 2009 Iron 

Ridge Road, Abramski’s marital residence.  The affidavit supporting this request 

appears to be an edited version of the “Highland Farm Road” property affidavit. It 

too, appears to be completely devoid of any fact that would indicate the reasonable 

probability that evidence of the November 12, 2009 bank robbery would be found 

at the Abramski marital residence.  In the affidavit, Agent Boodee recites in 

                                                                                                                                                             
multiple hearings.  Although the search warrants indicate that Abramski had made 
certain “threats”,   Moricle admitted that he was concerned about Abramski’s 
mental state; that he did not tell the FBI that Abramski had a “safe” with firearms 
in it; and never said that Abramski had an “arsenal” of guns.   Of particular note 
was that the affidavits are completely devoid of any fact that would indicate a 
probability that after seven plus months, there was likely to be any evidence of the 
robbery, or fruits thereof, located at either of the locations where the search 
warrants were executed. Evidence of Abramski’s behavior after this alleged 
conversation of June 25th indicated that there was no sign of the concerns raised by 
Moricle.  Mary Abramski, the defendant’s estranged wife, testified that she and the 
defendant were communicating and conducting visitation with the 18 month old 
daughter during this time and she saw no sign of this instability. Likewise the 
defendant’s father testified that the defendant was doing reasonably well under the 
circumstances and he explained at length the stalking matter that led to shots being 
fired at an intruder on the night of June 22nd.  (J.A. 164-191, Morricle 465-495) 
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paragraph 31certain items that were seized in the search of the Highland Farm 

Road property, including one Ruger model SR556 carbine, one Mossberg model 

500A tactical shotgun and one green money pouch.  Stating: 

 “Accordingly, instant application does not seek authority to seize these 
items.  Instant application does, however, request authority to search for, and seize, 
several other items, as listed in Attachment A, incorporated herein by reference.”  
(J.A. 398) 
 
 The inventory from the search of the 2009 Iron Ridge property reflects 

however, that three (3) green Franklin Community Bank bags were seized, with 

one containing the receipts from Town Police Supply and a handwritten receipt 

from Angel Alvarez.  (J.A. 312F)  Of the nine (9) items listed in Attachment A, 

items to be seized, only one, item number 7, the Compaq Presario CPU, appears to 

be an “authorized” item to be seized during the search.  Although, item 8 of the 

Attachment authorizes the seizure of “Any and all articles that appear to be 

relevant to the commission of a robbery”, no facts were provided by the 

government which would indicate a “probable” connection between the items 

seized from Abramski’s home and the November 12, 2009 bank robbery.   

 Although the “green Franklin Community Bank bags” were neither 

requested to be authorized for seizure or authorized by the Magistrate, during the 

search of the Iron Ridge Road property, the green bank bag with the receipt inside 

was apparently collected by another officer, and brought to Agent Gillis who was 

acting as an independent reviewer of items to determine their relevance.  She 
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would then make a determination as to whether the item ought to be “seized”.  

(J.A. 295-297) The present prosecution for the firearms charges came directly from 

the investigation of the receipt from Alvarez to Abramski which reflected the 

transfer of the firearm that had been purchased by Abramski on November 17, 

2009.  The federal government has never charged Abramski with the bank robbery.   

 Based on these facts, the Trial Court denied his Motion to dismiss; Motion 

to Suppress Evidence, Motion to Reopen and his request that the Jury be instructed 

that the Pennsylvania transaction redeems the alleged false statement in the ATF 

form 4473. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

This case is one of first impression:  There has never been a conviction for a 

violation of 18 U. S. C. §922(a) (6) and U.S. §924 (a)(1)(A) when the transfer to 

the third party was admittedly accomplished pursuant to a State authorized 

background check and documented as a legitimate transfer.  The government 

testified that the transfer of the firearm to Angel Alvarez in Pennsylvania was 

completely legal.  (J.A. 107, 108, 110, 111)  This fact scenario simply does not 

appear to consist of conduct intended by Congress to be punished under 18 U.S.C. 

§922(a) (6) and U.S.C. §924 (a)(1)(A).  

The appellant contends that this matter should never have been a subject of 

investigation and prosecution because the issuance of the search warrant for 2009 
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Iron Ridge Road was insufficient on its face, lacking in probable cause; and the 

subsequent execution of this search warrant was outside the bounds of the limiting 

language of the warrant and as a result was simply a “general warrant.”   

For these reasons, the appellant contends these actions were violative of the 

Fourth and Fifth Amendments of the United States Constitution and that these 

convictions should be reversed and dismissed.   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Since the issues in this appeal involve only statutory interpretation and other 

questions of law related to the application for and execution of the two search 

warrants in this case, the defendant suggests that the matters are reviewed de novo.  

See United States v. Lowery, 166 F.3d 1119, 1122 (11th Cir.), dert. Denied, 528 

U.S. 889, 120 S.Ct. 212, 145 L.Ed.2d 178 (1999). 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S 
MOTION TO DISMISS FOR LACK OF MATERIALITY. 
 

II. THE FACTS OF THIS CASE DO NOT CONSTITUTE A “STRAW 
PURCHASE” INTENDED TO BE PROSECUTED AS A 
VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. §922(a)(6) or U.S. §924 (a)(1)(A). 

 
 Since the facts and the application of the law, are so intertwined with these 

issues, they will both be addressed in this section.  For purposes of both issues, the 

defendant has always conceded that he completed a standard ATF form 4473 and 
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he did check the box for question 11(a) indicating that he was the “actual buyer” of 

the firearm.  (J.A. 585)  

 The intent of Congress seems to exclude prosecution for circumstances such 

as occurred between Mr. Abramski and Mr. Alvarez.  The government in this case 

characterized this transaction as a “straw purchase”, which was a violation of 18 

U.S. C. 922(a)(6).2  The application of this doctrine, in convicting Abramski is a 

far cry from the longstanding Congressional intent of the Gun Control Act, which 

is “to make it possible to keep firearms out of the hands of those not legally 

entitled to possess them because of age, criminal background, or incompetency.”  

See U.S. v. Moore, 109 F.3d. 1456, 1461 (9th Cir 1997) citing Barrett v. United 

States, 423 U.S. 212, 220, 96 S.Ct. 498, 503, 46 L.Ed. 2d. 450(1976) quoting S. 

Rep. No. 1501, 90th Cong. 2d Sess. 22 (1968) U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 

1968 p.4410)  See also the Congressional Findings and Declaration of purpose 

cited in the notes to 18 U.S. C. 921: 

‘it is not the purpose of this title to place any undue or unnecessary Federal 
restrictions or burdens on law-abiding citizens with respect to the acquisition, 
possession, or use of firearms appropriate to the purpose of hunting, trap-shooting 
target shooting, personal protection, or any other lawful activity, and that this title 
is not intended to discourage or eliminate the private ownership or use of firearms 
by law-abiding citizens for lawful purpose.’ 
 

                                                 
2 The references to this statute are also intended to apply to the defendant’s 
conviction under 18 U.S.C. §924(a)(1)(A). 
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 It is implicit in any prosecution under 18 U.S. C. 922(a)(6), that in order to 

determine the veracity and the materiality of  a purchaser’s intent in “checking” the 

box 11(a) as the “actual buyer”, a subsequent transfer must have later occurred.3 

The essence of the material misrepresentation must then be analyzed based on the 

facts surrounding a subsequent transfer to a third party.  The defendant contends an 

examination of the transfer in this case will lead this Court to the determination 

that Abramski’s “checking” the box 11(a) on the ATF form 4473 was not material 

and that these facts were not those intended to be prosecuted under 18 U.S.C. 

922(a)(6).  

 See United States v. Nelson, 221 F.3d. 1206, 1208, 1210 (11th Cir. 200) the 

court concluded that the fact that Nelson hired five individuals to purchase at least 

thirty  firearms on his behalf, representing that they were the actual buyers, 

knowing that those representations were false because Nelson supplied the money 

for the purchases, intended to possess the firearm immediately after the purchases;4 

United States v. Soto, 539 F. 3d 191, ( 3d Cir. 2008)  ”Soto was present in the store 

with her at the time of these purchases and actively involved himself in the 
                                                 
3 The Government, throughout this prosecution, has taken the position that the 
crime was committed by checking box 11(a) knowing that at a later point, the 
firearm was to be transferred to a third party.  It seems clear however that proof of 
this “knowing” can only be established by evidence of the third-party transfer.  
(J.A. 110, 365) 
4 Abramski did not use funds from Alvarez to purchase this firearm, nor did he 
receive any compensation for delivering the firearm to Pennsylvania to make the 
transfer at the FFL dealer.  
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purchase of the firearm.  Indeed, he was paid $100.00 in his role as protection for 

Brown.  He knew that the guns were not for her, and that they were going to be 

resold to drug dealers. In this case, Soto was more than merely a knowing 

spectator.  He was actively involved in the gun purchase process and participated 

in the criminal enterprise.” Id. Page 195;  United States v. Lawrence, 680 F. 2d 

1126, 1127, 1128 (6th Cir. 1982)  Lawrence, after being advised that it was illegal 

to purchase a firearm for a Canadian citizen, who was ineligible to make the 

purchase himself subsequently went to a second gun store, and purchased five 

firearms for the Canadian for a fee, as previously agreed upon. 

 The defendant distinguished these cases citing United States v. Polk, 118 F. 

3d 286 (5th Cir. 1986) for the proposition that not only was Alvarez a lawful 

purchaser, but that the manner in which the transfer took place through a Federal 

Firearms Licensed dealer in Pennsylvania, took the case out of those intended to be 

prohibited by Congress.  The government cited United States v. Phanphil, 57 M.J. 

6 (2002) to support the proposition that if the firearm was subsequently transferred 

to a third party, and the purchaser knew that was going to happen, contending that 

fact alone makes this a “straw purchase.”  Phanphil, however was yet another fact 

situation where the third party transferee was a person who was delivering the guns 

that Phanphil was buying for him to Haiti, clearly an illegal act.  Phanphil knew 

this fact. 
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 The appellant would contend that the fallacy of this prosecution becomes 

clear when the parts of the transaction are set out separately:  

1.  First, Mr. Abramski was a person authorized to purchase this firearm, as 

he had done with other firearms from that location in the past. 

2. Mr. Alvarez, Mr. Abramski’s uncle, was also a person authorized to 

purchase or possess a firearm in his home state of Pennsylvania. 

3. Neither Mr. Abramski nor Mr. Alvarez was a “prohibited person” under 

the United States Code that would have made it illegal for either of them 

to purchase or possess a firearm.  

4. In an effort to be certain that the transfer would be proper, Mr. Alvarez  

contacted three Federal Firearms Licensed dealers to confirm what 

needed to be done to properly transfer the firearm to him from Mr. 

Abramski in Pennsylvania.  He was told by each dealer that if the firearm 

was transferred at a “FFL” in Pennsylvania, this would be appropriate 

and the transfer would be legal. This information was communicated to 

Abramski before the purchase of the firearm in Virginia.  

5. But for the conversations between Mr. Abramski and his uncle about the 

Glock occurring before the purchase, Mr. Abramski could have 

purchased the firearm in Virginia, and then subsequently decided to 

transfer the firearm to his uncle.  He could then have delivered it to a 
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Federal Firearms Licensee in Pennsylvania and transferred the firearm 

without any risk of prosecution under this theory of the Government.  

This appears to be a distinction without a difference.    

6. The result is that as a law abiding citizen, Mr. Abramski has been 

prosecuted for allegedly “knowingly” making a false statement with the 

intent to deceive the dealer with regard to a “fact material to the 

lawfulness of the sale…” , see 18 U.S.C. 922(a)(6).   

7. Mr. Abramski testified at the Rule 11 hearing, that he didn’t know what 

he was doing was a crime, since his uncle had consulted the three 

separate Federal Firearms Licensees about this scenario and was told to 

do exactly what they did to effect the legal transfer in Pennsylvania. (J.A. 

549-552) 

8. Other than apparently being mistaken about the application of the law in 

this situation, these parties never intended to mislead any law 

enforcement authority; they had no ulterior, bad, or illegal motive to want 

to “hide” the fact that Mr. Alvarez was going to be the final owner of the 

firearm purchased in Virginia.  Mr. Alvarez’ motives were simply to 

possess a good handgun that he could enjoy for target shooting and self 

protection.  These purposes are not illegal. There was no motive to keep 

this transaction secret to hide any illegal purpose; and in fact, Alvarez 
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was clearly identified as the “transferee” of the firearm by the paperwork 

completed in the transfer of the firearm from Abramski to Alvarez in 

Pennsylvania.    

 The question becomes then, whether conviction of Mr. Abramski under the 

circumstances of this case actually furthers the intent of Congress “to make it 

possible to keep firearms out of the hands of those not legally entitled to possess 

them because of age, criminal background, or incompetency.  See Barrett, infra.  

 The appellant’s response is a respectful “no”.  Even though the Government 

would argue that this process would allow the ATF records to show only Mr. 

Abramski as the original “buyer”, this is no different than if he purchased the 

firearm, and then changed his mind the moment he walked out of the Town Police 

Supply store and decided to sell it to a complete stranger.  Such a transaction 

would not be illegal, provided the second purchaser is not a prohibited person 

under the Code.  The fact that Mr. Abramski checked the box on form 4473 as the 

actual buyer, although true, is immaterial to the record keeping intent of the 18 

U.S.C. 924(a)(1)(A).  (Note: Agent Teehan testified that there was no time period 

that a firearm had to be owned before the legal transfer would be made.) (J.A. 107) 

 The case for prosecution under these facts begins to fade here.  The prior 

example, although legal, would not permit the ATF to identify the subsequent 

buyer.  Under the present facts of this case, the Pennsylvania transaction is 
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conceded to have taken place legally, and it actually provides more record keeping 

than the example of the stranger purchasing the firearm.  The record of Mr. 

Abramski being the original “purchaser” would remain the same under either  

scenario.  The appellant would argue that the Pennsylvania transaction makes the 

“checking of the box” in Virginia immaterial to the question of whether Abramski 

intended to deceive the Virginia dealer. 

 Coming full circle, a conviction of Mr. Abramski under these facts fails at 

all levels, to accomplish Congress’s original intent to keep guns out of the hands of 

improper persons.5  Essentially the trial court restated the defense argument to 

support the conviction, i.e. that the law, although intended to prohibit the bad guys 

from getting guns, necessarily must convict you, even though you never intended 

to violate any of those legislative mandates.6  The defendant did not “knowingly” 

make this statement, given the information he had received from his uncle about 

                                                 
5 Even the trial court, acknowledged this intent during the colloquy with the 
defendant at his sentencing hearing making the point (albeit perhaps unknowingly) 
when he stated: “You knew the whole time that the purchase of the firearm was for 
your uncle.  In fact, the evidence would have been that you had already made 
investigation as to what it would take to get the weapon transferred to your uncle.  
So, really, it’s just unacceptable; and the fact that you were a former police officer, 
who understood the reason for the laws that prohibit, as much as we can, firearms 
from finding their way in to the hands of improper people, how significant those 
laws are.   ( emphasis added) Sentencing hearing 10/03/11  (J.A. 581, line 22 
through 582, line 5) 
6 The investigation the Court alluded to was the uncle’s contacts with three other 
Federal Firearms Licensees who told him that the purchase in Virginia, followed 
by the legal transfer in Pennsylvania was perfectly legal in its entirety.   

Appeal: 11-4992      Doc: 44            Filed: 02/14/2012      Pg: 22 of 37



19 
 

the legality of the Pennsylvania transaction; the defendant never intended to 

deceive the dealer with regard to this transaction; and finally this representation no 

longer becomes “material” to the lawfulness of the sale for the reasons stated 

herein.  

 In denying the defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the indictment because the 

statement made by the defendant at the time of purchase of the firearm was not 

material to the lawfulness of the purchase, the trial court cited United States v. 

Frazier, 605 F.3d 1271(11th Cir. 2010) for the proposition that the “identity of the 

purchaser is a constant that is always material to the lawfulness of the purchase of 

a firearm under sec. 922(a)(6).”  It appears that this approach is too simplistic and 

the defendant would argue this ruling by the Eleventh Circuit was “fact driven” not 

based on the intent of Congress.  For example, certainly, it was not missed by the 

court in Frazier that Frazier and his codefendant were “involved in a firearms 

smuggling operation from the United States to Canada.  Frazier and Roach would 

buy, or have someone else buy, firearms in the United States and hire  drivers to 

deliver the firearms in rental cars to Canada and exchange the firearms for drugs or 

money, which were transported back to the United States.”  Frazier Id at page 

1272. Given the intent of Congress in keeping firearms out of the hands of 

improper persons, the connection in the Frazier case between firearms and their 

role in the facilitation of other illegal conduct clearly diminishes the actual “status” 
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of the recipient of the firearms.  Rather, it seems that it is the concurrent 

connection between the desire to “insulate” the identity of the actual purchaser of 

the firearms from the ultimate use of the firearms to accomplish otherwise 

prohibited conduct is the crucial question.  If the analysis is focused on this 

connection, the issue of whether the actual buyer is a “prohibited” person under the 

Code becomes properly irrelevant, and the purpose of the prohibition of “Straw 

Purchases” can be accomplished without the risk of punishing an innocent person 

like Abramski, who is caught up in the debate of a fiction that is not material to the 

intent of Congress.7   

 In the present case, Abramski purchased the firearm in Virginia admittedly 

with the intention of ultimately having it transferred to his uncle.  However, there 

was never any intent on the part of Abramski as the “buyer”, or Alvarez the 

ultimate “recipient”, to use the firearm to otherwise promote improper or illegal 

conduct.  Their only purpose was to legally facilitate the “transfer” to Alvarez in 

Pennsylvania.  Abramski’s error was not asking the question of how the transfer to 

a person in Pennsylvania could be made from Virginia.   

 However this appears to have been an innocent mistake.  Since they both 

knew that the recipient was a Pennsylvania resident, it appears from the evidence 

                                                 
7 Although 18 U.S.C. 922(A) identified certain classes of “prohibited persons”, the 
statute fails to articulate the prohibition of these facts as a “straw purchase,”  i.e. 
where the “actual buyer” Alvarez has no improper motive. 
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that they were both focused on how could the transfer be done legally pursuant to 

the law in Pennsylvania.  The information Alvarez received, and that Abramski 

relied upon was to do exactly what they did.  

 The government’s entire case rests on the fact that these individuals 

discussed before the actual purchase, why a Glock would be an enjoyable firearm 

to shoot, and that Alvarez sent Abramski a check to defray the purchase price. The 

appellant respectfully suggests to this Court on review, that this analysis is but a 

partial consideration of what Congress intended to prohibit when this statute was 

passed and the “straw purchase” prohibition was born.  He would argue that 

Congress never envisioned punishing an individual for inadvertently violating a 

“procedural” rule for the transfer of firearms interstate, when the net effect of what 

occurred in no way perverts the intent of record keeping by ATF.   

 It is accurate that although the firearm ended up with Alvarez in 

Pennsylvania, and that the ATF records show Abramski as the “actual buyer”, but 

this is simply no different than if Alvarez and Abramski had not talked before the 

purchase, but that had their conversation after the purchase.  If because of their 

familial relationship, Abramski told Alvarez that he had just purchased a Glock 

that Alvarez would probably enjoy, and if he wanted it, he would sell it to him, and 

thereafter, the transfer was completed as it was in this case the preservation of 

records would not have changed.  The firearm would have ended up with Alvarez 
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and if the ATF wanted to track the gun, they would go to Abramski and the proper 

paper trail would be the same as Abramski explained the subsequent transfer as 

described above.    

 To summarize, the government, with the District Court agreeing, has 

prosecuted this case by simply ignoring the import of the Pennsylvania transfer.  

The government takes the position that the crime was complete when the defendant 

checked the box on the ATF form 4473 indicating he was the “actual buyer” when 

he knew that shortly thereafter he would be transferring this firearm to his uncle by 

way of an FFL dealer in Pennsylvania.  If this is the case, then we find ourselves 

acknowledging that the application of 18 U.S.C. §922(a)(6) under these facts, can 

only occur if we all agree that it is better to convict an average citizen so that we 

can always be certain that the “net” is broad enough to catch the bad guys too.  

Given the intent of Congress, the defendant respectfully suggests that is not the 

proper application of this statute. 

III. THE AFFIDAVIT FOR THE SEARCH WARRANT ON THE 2009 
IRON RIDGE ROAD PROPERTY, WHERE THE RECEIPT FOR 
THE TRANSFER OF THE GLOCK FIREARM WAS FOUND AND 
SEIZED, WAS INSUFFICIENT TO ESTABLISH PROBABLE 
CAUSE AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

 
IV. THE EXECUTION OF THE SEARCH WARRANT ON THE IRON 

RIDGE ROAD PROPERTY WAS IN VIOLATION OF THE 
MAGISTRATE’S DIRECTIVES IN THE WARRANT, 
RESULTING IN THE ILLEGAL SEIZURE OF THE RECEIPT 
FOR THE TRANSFER OF THE GLOCK FIREARM. 
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  The Supreme Court has described “probable cause” to search as “a fair 

probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular 

place.”  Illinois v. Gates, 462 U. S. 213 (1983).  Further, probable cause exists 

“where the known facts and circumstances are sufficient to warrant a man of 

reasonable prudence in the belief that contraband or evidence of a particular crime 

will be found.”  The defendant contends that an examination of the two search 

warrant affidavits fails to establish this standard.  

For some unexplained reason, this investigation went from November, 2009, 

until June 24th, 2010, with no action taken by law enforcement against Mr. 

Abramski.8 

On July 1, 2010, two days after Dustin Moricle spoke about his suspicions 

concerning Mr. Abramski with the FBI on June 29, 2010, the FBI applied for a 

search warrant for 2260 Highland Farm Road, the home of Mr. Abramski’s 

parents.  What information did they obtain that would “warrant a man of 

reasonable prudence in the belief that contraband or evidence of a crime will be 

found?” 

                                                 
8 The first Affidavit contains information allegedly from Lt. Todd Clingenpeel, 
was contacted by Franklin County investigators in January, 2010, and advised that 
Abramski was a suspect in the bank robbery.  (J.A. 431, 432)  (This information 
from Clingenpeel was omitted from the Affidavit for a search warrant of 2009 Iron 
Ridge Road.  
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The Appellant respectfully suggests there was nothing.  Other than having 

Moricle say he could identify Abramski as the bank robber from photos of a man 

with a ski mask on, and reciting alleged statements of the defendant to Moricle that 

make it appear that he had turned into a mad man ready to go on a killing spree, 

there are no facts that indicate that after seven (7) months, it was reasonable to 

believe that either contraband or evidence of the bank robbery would likely be 

found at the defendant’s parents house.9  It appears that the FBI Affiant Gillis 

embellished some details related to the presence of an “arsenal” of firearms which 

Abramski had access to, the location of the “arsenal” in a safe in the basement of 

his parents home, and if the statements were made at all, the alleged statements 

were more of an indication of how a distraught young man was pouring out his 

heart to his best friend rather than showing a real intent to harm any law 

enforcement officers (J.A. Morricle 472-492) 

Likewise, the Fourth Amendment instructs that “no warrants shall issue, but 

upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing 

the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.”  U.S. Const. 

amend. IV.  The requirement that a search warrant describe with particularity the 

items to be seized ensures that a citizen is not subjected to “a general, exploratory 

rummaging in [his personal} belongings.”  United States v. Hurwitz, 459 F.3d 463, 

                                                 
9 See footnote number (1) 
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473 (4th Cir. 2006), citing Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 467, 91 S.Ct. 

2022, 29 L.Ed2d 564 (1971). 

“Although the concept of probable cause resists an exacting definition, it 

‘exist[s] where the known facts and circumstances are sufficient to warrant a man 

of reasonable prudence in the belief that contraband or evidence of a crime will be 

found’ in a particular place.”  Hurwitz, id. At page 473.  The law requires a 

substantial basis to exist for the Magistrate’s determination for probable cause.  

See  Hurwitz, infra.  The defendant is still searching the affidavit for such facts to 

support a probably cause determination under this definition. 

Far from indicating the likelihood that contraband or evidence of a crime 

will be found in this location, a reading of the affidavit(s) indicates an intention by 

the agents to create an impression that Abramski was so dangerous that something 

had to be done to disarm him.10 

The robber’s description was that of a man with a ball cap and a ski mask, 

black, hooded sweatshirt with a stripe down the sleeves, carrying a black box type 

duffle bag and a “boxy” handgun, looking like a Glock model. 

The Federal Agents asked for: 

1. One or more black jackets, with or without white stripes on the 

sleeves. 
                                                 
10 Of course Abramski turned himself in to authorities on the afternoon of July 1. 
2010, when he heard a warrant was outstanding for him. 

Appeal: 11-4992      Doc: 44            Filed: 02/14/2012      Pg: 29 of 37



26 
 

How could these agents reasonable believe that a black jacket without 

stripes would be relevant to the crime? 

2. One or more black duffel bag, square in shape.   

(Perhaps reasonable to show that Mr. Abramski owned one, if found 

eight months after the robbery.) 

3. One or more full face masks.   

(Perhaps also reasonable to show that Mr. Abramski owned one, if found 

eight months after the robbery.) 

4. One or more computers. 

A computer was seized but there was no additional information forth 

coming about the computer. 

5. One or more watches with chrome or light colored highlights. 

(None was found.) 

6. One or more pairs of blue or black cargo style pants. 

(None was found.) 

7. One green money pouch. 

(One was seized during the search of the Highland Farm Road, property, 

perhaps to establish that Abramski, eight months after the robbery, had 

such a bag in his possession.  This would have corroborated only the fact 
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that he had removed cash from such a bank bag to pay for the firearms at 

the Town Police Supply.11 

Clearly, however a “green zippered money pouch” was never 

“contraband or evidence of a crime.”) 

8. Any and all articles that appear to be relevant for the commission of 

a robbery. 

What could this request possibly mean?  All of the articles of clothing 

and items used in the robbery were specified in items 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6.  

The FBI contended that most of the money was spent on firearms.  There 

was no evidence of any “marked” money being taken or that any of the 

cash taken was “dye stained” or could be connected with the bank robber 

if any cash was located.  Finally, if cash was sought, and they had a 

reasonable basis to think cash would be found in a search, why was it not 

specifically listed?  Therefore, cash, if any were to be found in either 

home could in no way be traced to the proceeds of this robbery.  This 

                                                 
11 Apparently the video of that portion of the alleged purchase was never obtained 
by the agents according to the summary of the government’s subsequent 
investigation into the “partial” video provided to counsel during the discovery.  
(J.A. Wolthuis 348-352) 
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statement appears to be a veiled license to “look” and search12 without 

any reasonable factual basis to search for anything in particular.   

 All of these questions bear on the method and broad sweeping manner of the 

actual execution of the warrant.  It appears that the Agents took this warrant at 

2009 Iron Ridge Road as a ‘free for all” search, completely unrestrained by any 

limiting language outlined in the warrant.  A review of the inventory of the 2260 

Highland Farm Road search establishes this part. 

 Of the fourteen items listed, the Agents seized item #4, assorted bills & 

receipts, cash envelope w/ withdrawal slip from Franklin Community Bank; item 

#10, (1) western field rifle; item #11, (1) shotgun, 12 gauge ER; and item #13, (1) 

Blackberry model 8330, none of which were listed on the search warrant, or the 

attachment thereto.   

 This “general” search approach was magnified in the application for the 

search warrant of the 2009 Iron Ridge Road residence.  Although the affidavit for 

the search of this residence stated in paragraph 31:  (J.A. 3981) 

“On 07/01/10, during the execution of a federal search warrant at Bruce J. 
Abramski, Sr.’s residence at 2260 Highland Farm Road, Calloway, Virginia, FBI 
Special Agents executing the search warrant located and seized several items of 
evidence as permitted by the warrant authorizing the search of that location. A 
partial list of items seized includes: one Ruger model SR 556 carbine, one 
Mossberg model 500A tactical shotgun, and one green zippered money pouch.   

                                                 
12 The defendant contends that the knowledge of the lack of facts by the Agents, 
takes this case out of the realm of U.S. v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). 
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Accordingly, instant application does not seek authority to seize these items.  
Instant application does, however, request authority to search for, and seize, 
several other items, as listed in Attachment A, incorporated herein by reference.”  
(emphasis added) 
 
 Agent Gillis as much as admitted she had free reign during the search of the 

Iron Ridge Road residence.  She indicates that officers would bring her items and 

she examined them for “relevance.”  (J.A. Gillis 295-297) 

 Neither the plain view doctrine, inadvertent discovery, nor good faith saves 

the government in the seizure of the receipt from Angel Alvarez, located in the 

green bank bag, during the search at 2009 Iron Ridge Road. 

 At the time of the search, the FBI had no indication that Abramski had sold 

his Glock.  Therefore, the extent of the search would have been limited to places, 

containers or areas where the articulated items linked to the robbery could have 

been secreted or stored. 

 In addition, the Iron Ridge Affidavit specifically excluded authority to seize 

any “green money bags.”  One had already been seized at the Highland Farm 

property and the Iron Ridge affidavit specifically stated “…instant application does 

not seek authority to seize these items.”  (J.A. 398) 

 The appellant would argue, the agents had no right to search notes, 

documents and such without a specific grant of authority.  Understanding that the 

government will respond that they had a grant of authority under item #8 of the 

Attachment to seize:  
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“Any and all articles that appear to be relevant to the commission of a 

robbery.” (emphasis added) 

Without some limitation regarding the items that would be “relevant”, this 

clause simply transforms the warrant into a general warrant which the agents could 

use to look and search in any place whatsoever. (See Hurwitz, infra.)   In fact, the 

agents ought to have been limited by what they set out in the affidavit as specific 

items that could be related to this robbery, based upon facts constituting a 

reasonable basis that such items constituted contraband or evidence of a crime. 

 When one of the agents assisting in the execution of the warrant brought 

another “green money bag” (three were seized without authority during the Iron 

Ridge search), Agent Gillis had no reason to reasonably believe that any evidence 

of the robbery could likely be found inside the green bag. She searched the bag 

anyway and subsequently seized it, even though authority for seizure of a money 

bag was neither requested nor given by the Magistrate. 

 Agent Gillis claimed when she saw the receipt she immediately recognized 

the serial number on the receipt as being the same as the serial number for the 

Glock  purchased by Abramski 8 months prior from Town Police Supply.  The 

appellant believes it is worth noting that this is the same agent that has such an 

affinity for detail that in January, 2010, she had gone to the Town Police Supply 

store for the purpose of obtaining a copy of the entire video of Abranski’s 
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transaction on November 17, 2009, and according to the government’s summary 

explanation (J.A. 349-351) she left the store with only a portion of the video which 

did not include the critical portion which was allegedly Abramski paying for the 

firearms with cash.   

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Abramski respectfully requests that this Court 

reverse the District Court’s judgment of guilt on both counts, and dismiss these 

two charges alleging violations of 18 U.S.C. 922(a)(6) and 18 U.S.C. 

924(a)(1)(A). 
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